THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM
THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Panel Decision

Appellate Case No. 2016-002493

Armando Fuentes,

Employee, Claimant,
Respondent,

RECEIVED

APR 07 2017

SC Court of Appeals

v.

Mays Contracting Company,
LLC,

Employer, and

Builders Mutual Insurance
Company,

Carrier, Appellants,

And

Jose M. Ortiz DBA Ortiz
Construction,

Employer, and

Riverport Insurance Company,

Carrier, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

William T. Littlejohn
210 Wingo Way, Suite 201
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464
(843) 278-0488
Attorney for Appellant
SC Bar No. 77406

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE COMMISSION, AS A MATTER OF LAW, ERRED IN FINDING THAT A LETTER FROM NCCI TO RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY AMOUNTED TO A “RULE WITH PRECISE LANGUAGE IN THE RECORD” WITHIN THE MEANING DISCUSSED IN *CREWS*, THEREBY PROVIDING THE BASIS AND/OR AUTHORITY FOR RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY TO CANCEL THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE POLICY INSURING JOSE M. ORTIZ MENDOZA D/B/A ORTIZ CONSTRUCTION.
- II. WHETHER THE COMMISSION’S FINDING THAT A LETTER FROM NCCI TO RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY AMOUNTED TO A “RULE WITH PRECISE LANGUAGE IN THE RECORD” WITHIN THE MEANING DISCUSSED IN *CREWS*, THEREBY PROVIDING THE BASIS AND/OR AUTHORITY FOR RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY TO CANCEL THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE POLICY INSURING JOSE M. ORTIZ MENDOZA D/B/A ORTIZ CONSTRUCTION, WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.
- III. WHETHER THE COMMISSION, AS A MATTER OF LAW, ERRED IN FINDING THAT RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY PROPERLY CANCELED THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE POLICY INSURING JOSE M. ORTIZ MENDOZA D/B/A ORTIZ CONSTRUCTION WITH THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF CANCELLATION BEING APRIL 30, 2015, THEREBY DISMISSING RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY FROM THIS CLAIM.
- IV. WHETHER THE COMMISSION’S FINDING THAT RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY PROPERLY CANCELED THE WORKERS’ COMPENSATION INSURANCE POLICY INSURING JOSE M. ORTIZ MENDOZA D/B/A ORTIZ CONSTRUCTION WITH THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF CANCELLATION BEING APRIL 30, 2015, THEREBY DISMISSING RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY FROM THIS CLAIM, WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal from the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission arises from an admitted work accident involving a dispute about which carrier is responsible for providing benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act (hereinafter "the Act"). Specifically, Mays Contracting Company, LLC, and Builders Mutual Insurance Company (hereinafter "Appellants") dispute responsibility for providing benefits under the Act to Armando Fuentes (hereinafter "Claimant"). Appellants assert that Jose M. Ortiz Mendoza DBA Ortiz Construction (hereinafter "Ortiz") and Riverport Insurance Company (hereinafter "Riverport") are the employer-carrier combination responsible for Claimant's benefits.

On or about June 30, 2015, Claimant sustained an injury by accident while working for Ortiz. At the time of the accident, Ortiz was performing services as a subcontractor for Appellants. On October 27, 2015, Claimant filed a form 50 Employee's Request for Hearing seeking benefits under the Act for the work injury of June 30, 2015, naming as parties Appellants as the general contractor, and Ortiz as the subcontractor. Under the section of the form 50 labeled "11. Further grounds or unusual aspects of the claim:" it reads "Subcontractor [Ortiz] had coverage through Berkeley [an affiliate of Riverport]; however, Berkeley canceled the policy on 4.30.15, approximately two months before the date of injury, such that, upon information and belief, subcontractor Ortiz was uninsured on the date of injury."

In response to Claimant's form 50, Riverport timely filed an answer denying coverage for this claim, asserting it had provided Ortiz with notice of cancellation of its workers' compensation policy on April 15, 2015, with an effective cancellation date of April 30, 2015. Appellants timely filed an answer asserting the defense of lack of an employer/employee relationship with Claimant.

Claimant admits that he was a direct employee of Ortiz on the date of accident, but in the event that Ortiz did not have workers' compensation insurance coverage on the date of accident, he asserts that the responsible employer/carrier combination for providing benefits under the Act would be Appellants under a theory of statutory employment.

Riverport admits to providing workers' compensation insurance coverage for Ortiz effective March 26, 2015. However, Riverport asserts that it properly canceled Ortiz's coverage effective April 30, 2015, based on Ortiz being identified as having undisputed premium dollars owed on a prior workers' compensation policy with a different carrier (Companion).

Appellants' argued that Riverport improperly canceled Ortiz's policy because the given reason for the cancellation is not supported by the rules that govern assigned risk policies, which is the type of policy written by Riverport for Ortiz. Under the case of *Crews v. Crews*, 390 S.C. 15, 699 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2010), Appellants assert that an assigned risk policy cannot be canceled because of activities that occurred on a prior policy, regardless of whether the prior policy was written by the current carrier or a prior carrier. In the alternative, even if such cancellation is permitted under the rules addressing assigned risk policies, Riverport failed to provide Ortiz with an opportunity to cure, as is required under the applicable rules. In sum, because Riverport improperly cancelled Ortiz's policy on April 30, 2015, Riverport is the responsible carrier for Claimant's work accident and related injuries sustained on June 30, 2015, while he was working as a direct employee of Ortiz.

On February 9, 2016, a hearing on this matter was held before the Honorable Aisha G. Taylor, Commissioner (hereinafter "the single Commissioner"). Appearances were made by Claimant and his counsel, Appellants and Riverport. Ortiz did not make an appearance.

At the hearing before the single Commissioner, records were submitted into evidence by

Claimant, Appellants, and Riverport, including transcripts from the depositions of Claimant, Mr. Thaddeus Everett Mays, and Mr. Jose Ortiz. Claimant provided live testimony.

On June 1, 2016, the single Commissioner issued a Decision and Order, finding and concluding Riverport had properly canceled the workers' compensation insurance policy insuring Ortiz with the effective date of cancellation being April 30, 2015, and Riverport is therefore dismissed from this claim. The single Commissioner further found that on July 30, 2015, Ortiz did not have any workers' compensation insurance coverage; therefore, under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-410, Appellants, the upstream general contractor and its carrier, are the liable employer/carrier combination responsible for Claimant's benefits for the work accident of June 30, 2015, while Claimant was working for Ortiz. Appellants timely appealed the single Commissioner's decision to the Full Commission.

A hearing was held before the Commission's appellate panel on September 19, 2016, during which arguments were put forth by Appellants and Riverport. Thereafter, on November 15, 2016, the Commission issued its Decision and Order sustaining the findings of fact and conclusions of law of the single Commissioner. Appellants timely appealed from the Commission's decision to the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

Based on the evidence in this case, the rules governing assigned risk policies for workers' compensation insurance, and the South Carolina Court of Appeal's decision in *Crews v. Crews*, *supra*, the Commission's findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the proper carrier constitute errors of law and/or are not supported by substantial evidence and should be reversed on the issue of which employer/carrier is responsible. Accordingly, the Commission's decision should be modified to hold Riverport responsible for Claimant's benefits under the Act.

FACTS

Ortiz, Claimant's direct employer at the time of accident, does not read or speak English. (R. p. 109; p. 5, line 14-15 of transcript). From January 11, 2014 through January 11, 2015, Ortiz had an assigned risk workers' compensation insurance policy with Companion Property and Casualty Group (hereinafter Companion). On November 10, 2014, Companion notified Ortiz the policy ending on January 11, 2015, would not be renewed because Companion would no longer be a servicing carrier for the assigned risk pool in South Carolina. (R. p. 94). After the Companion policy period, a final audit was conducted for the purpose of determining whether any premiums were owed on Companion's policy. On February 24, 2015, Companion issued a notice to Ortiz informing that the final audit resulted in a premium increase of \$6,531.00. (R. p. 96). At some point thereafter, Ortiz paid the premium increase. (R. p. 109-110; p. 7, line 24 – p. 8, line 25 of transcript).

Concurrent to the above timeline, Ortiz purchased a policy for workers' compensation insurance classified under an "assigned risk section" written by Riverport, with a policy period date of January 11, 2015 through January 11, 2016. (R. p. 218 & 273). The quoted premium amount was \$1,250.00, and it was paid in full by Ortiz via credit card on December 29, 2014. (R. p. 229 & 239).

On February 19, 2015, Riverport sent Ortiz a letter entitled "Notice of Cancellation of Workers' Compensation Policy" notifying the policy was cancelled effective March 26, 2015, for noncompliance with underwriting requirements, specifically failure to complete and return an underwriting evaluation letter. In that letter, Ortiz was provided an opportunity to cure the deficiency by sending the requested information prior to March 26, 2015, to avoid cancellation.

(R. p. 99).

On March 19, 2015, Ortiz cured the deficiency by returning the completed underwriting evaluation letter with a contracting supplement to Riverport. (R. p. 100-101). In response, consistent with the opportunity to cure, Riverport issued a letter to Ortiz advising that the policy would be reinstated as of March 26, 2015. (R. p. 102).

On April 15, 2015, Riverport received a letter from NCCI informing that Ortiz was no longer eligible for assigned risk coverage because Ortiz was identified as having an undisputed premium or other monetary obligation on a prior/current workers' compensation policy. NCCI further instructed that if the policy was an assigned risk policy, Riverport was to proceed with initiating cancellation in accordance with the cancellation provisions of the assigned carrier performance standards found on NCCI's website and "applicable Plan rules and/or statutory or regulatory requirements regarding the policy." (R. p. 301).

That same day, on April 15, 2015, Riverport sent a letter to Ortiz entitled "Notice of Cancellation of Workers' Compensation Policy," advising that the policy would be canceled effective April 30, 2015, stating "Reason for cancellation: Non-Compliance with Underwriting Requirements," below which also reads: "Employer identified as having an undisputed premium or other monetary obligation on a *prior* workers' compensation policy (emphasis added)." (R. 206). The parties agree that the prior policy obligation referenced is the additional premium assessed by Companion.

It was not until May 21, 2015, after the effective date of cancellation, that one of Riverport's representatives contacted Ortiz via voicemail message. An appointment letter was sent on June 1, 2015, and additional phone calls were made to Ortiz. The Riverport representative documented that on June 15, 2015, he called Ortiz to confirm an appointment, and the insured

canceled stating “they are unable to complete audit as scheduled and will have a translator call auditor back. No response.” There is no evidence in the record that any of Riverport’s communications with Ortiz were spoken or written in Spanish. Ortiz denies that he told anyone he would hire or have an interpreter. (R. p. 110; p. 9, line 4 – p. 10, line 1-21 of transcript & R. p. 303).

Thereafter, on June 24, 2015, Ortiz received an audit close out notice informing the final premium for the policy could not be determined because of failure to return payroll report forms or to allow the completion of a physical audit. In this letter, Ortiz was advised that failure to afford access to operations for auditing purposes may result in cancellation of the policy and may also result in ineligibility for future workers’ compensation coverage. Ortiz was further advised completion of the final audit may result in entitlement to a refund of premium or a bill for additional premium. The policy period is listed as January 11, 2015, through April 30, 2015. By the time of this letter, the policy was already cancelled, and there is no language addressing potential re-instatement following compliance. (R. p. 104) Notably, the terms of the policy between Ortiz and Riverport states under Part Five – Premium, subsection E: “If the policy is canceled, final premium will be determined in the following way unless our manuals provide otherwise: 1. If we cancel, final premium will be calculated pro rata based on the time this policy was in force. Final premium will not be less than the pro rata share of the minimum premium.” (R. p. 73). Riverport did not return any premium to Ortiz. (R. p. 110; p. 9, line 1-3 of transcript)

On June 30, 2015, Claimant sustained injuries by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment with Ortiz (R. p. 120-147). As of January 20, 2016, Riverport had not refunded any of Ortiz’s premium paid for the foreshortened policy period. (R. p. 105).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from an appellate panel of the Commission, the Court of Appeals can reverse or modify the decision if it is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence in the whole record. *Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010). “Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, but evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the agency reached.” *Tiller v. National Health Care Ctr.*, 334 S.C. 333, 338, 513 S.E.2d 843, 834 (1999).

ARGUMENTS

The pivotal facts in this case are as follows: Appellants are the upstream employer and carrier, Ortiz was a subcontractor for Appellants, Claimant was the direct employee of Ortiz, and the workers’ compensation policy written by Riverport covering Ortiz - the one that Riverport argues was properly cancelled prior to the date of accident - was written under the Assigned Risk Plan.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina recognized the purpose of the Assigned Risk Plan and its pool of insurers, which came about in 2000, is to provide a source of workers’ compensation insurance coverage to “applicants who are in good faith entitled to, but who are unable to procure, [workers’ compensation] insurance through ordinary methods.” *Rodriguez v. Romero*, 363 S.C. 80, 84-5, 610 S.E.2d 488, 490 (2005). This scheme, which privatized the assigned risk market in South Carolina, replaced a former system that spread the risk over all carriers, whereas the current system places the burden on only a few carriers who have *requested* to handle assigned risk to bear

the loss (emphasis added). *Id.* at Fn. 4. In a more recent case, this Court has observed:

“The General Assembly has delegated certain authority over assigned-risk insurance to the Director of the Department of Insurance. South Carolina Code section 38-73-540(A)(1) states that ‘any mechanism designed to implement’ the assigned-risk agreement executed by the state’s insurers “must be submitted in writing to the director or his designee for approval prior to use, together with such additional information as the director or his designee may reasonably require.” The Code does not require that the implementation mechanism be promulgated as a regulation. Rather, the mechanism attains the force of law when it is approved by the Director of the Department of Insurance.”

Burris v. Propst Lumber & Logging, Inc., 396 S.C. 85,93, 719 S.E.2d 695, 699 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *Avant v. Willowglen Acad.*, 367 S.C. 315, 319, 626 S.E.2d 797 (2006)).

In its decision finding that Riverport properly cancelled Ortiz’s policy, the Commission failed to properly apply the South Carolina Court of Appeals’ decision in *Crews v. Crews*, 390 S.C. 15, 699 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2010), and the Assigned Risk Plan rules.

In *Crews v. Crews*, the primary issue addressed was whether, under the Assigned Risk Plan, a carrier could properly cancel a subsequent workers’ compensation insurance policy (hereinafter “Policy 2” for ease of discussion) because of an employer’s failure to comply with an audit request on a prior policy written by the same carrier (hereinafter “Policy 1”), where the policy period for Policy 1 had already expired. 390 S.C. at 22, 699 S.E.2d at 193.

In *Crews*, the carrier issued Policy 1 to the employer using estimated payroll information to calculate the premium, with the understanding that the exact payroll exposure, and hence the precise premium, would not be known *until the end of the policy term after the completion of an audit* (emphasis added). *Id.* at 18, 191. Towards the end of the coverage period for Policy 1, the carrier sent the employer an audit request to determine whether the employer owed additional premium payments on Policy 1 or was entitled to a refund of estimated premiums already paid. *Id.* By the expiration of the coverage for Policy 1, the employer had not responded to the audit

request. *Id.* at 19, 191. Three days after Policy 1 expired, the employer paid the quoted premium for Policy 2, which became effective the same day. *Id.*

Approximately two months into the Policy 2 coverage period, the carrier sent the employer two letters dated the same day. *Id.* The first letter informed the employer of an estimated audit for Policy 1, indicating neither party owed money to the other, but such determination was subject to revision once the employer responded to the audit request for policy one. *Id.* The second letter informed the employer that Policy 2 had been cancelled effective approximately one month later, citing noncompliance with Plan rules and failure to comply with auditing or loss prevention service department requests as the reasons for cancellation. *Id.* A representative of the carrier provided testimony clarifying that the failure to comply with auditing referenced in the letter canceling Policy 2 actually related to activity on Policy 1. Approximately three months after Policy 2 was cancelled, the employer suffered serious injuries due to a workplace accident. *Id.* at 20, 192.

Approving of the Circuit Court's decision, which found that the carrier could not cancel Policy 2 because of alleged failures to comply with the requirements of Policy 1, the Court of Appeals quoted the following from the lower court decision: "There is no provision of the [Assigned Risk] Plan requiring or allowing cancellation of a current policy due to an alleged failure to comply with the requirements of a previous policy..." *Id.* at 23, 193.

According to the court in *Crews*, the Assigned Risk Plan specifies five circumstances that allow a carrier to cancel a workers' compensation insurance policy : (1) the employer is not in good faith entitled to workers' compensation coverage, (2) the employer has failed to comply with reasonable health, safety, or audit and loss prevention requirements, (3) the employer has violated one or more of the terms under which the insurance was issued, (4) the employer refuses to allow the assigned carrier reasonable access to its facilities or its files and records for audit or inspection, and (5) the

employer refuses to disclose the assigned carrier the full nature and scope of the assigned carriers exposure. *Id.*

Additionally, even if one of the five conditions exist, *Crews* instructs that the Assigned Risk Plan rules “specify the carrier must first provide an opportunity to cure” before cancelling a policy under the plan. *See id.* at 25, 194.

In sum, *Crews* makes it clear the analysis for determining whether an Assigned Risk Plan policy was properly cancelled is a two-step inquiry: (1) which of the five circumstances exist that would allow the carrier to initiate cancellation, and (2) assuming one of the circumstances is identified, whether the carrier provided an opportunity to cure the deficiency before initiating cancellation.

The Commission failed to properly apply the Assigned Risk Plan rules in accordance with the decision in *Crews* in that it failed to identify the basis upon which Riverport was authorized to cancel the policy in question. Additionally, even if the Commission did identify the basis for the cancellation as recognized in *Crews* and the Assigned Risk Plan rules, the Commission still misapplied the law in that it should have found Riverport failed to provide Ortiz with an opportunity to cure as is required. Accordingly, Ortiz’s policy with Riverport remained active on the date of accident, and, therefore, the Commission’s decision with respect to assigning responsibility for this claim to Appellant should be reversed.

1. THE COMMISSION FAILED TO PROPERLY IDENTIFY THE RULE THAT WOULD PERMIT RIVERPORT TO INITIATE CANCELLATION OF ORTIZ’S POLICY PURSUANT TO *CREWS* AND THE ASSIGNED RISK PLAN RULES.

In its decision, the Commission should have applied *Crews* and the Assigned Risk Plan rules and made findings of facts and conclusions of law identifying the rule that would have allowed Riverport to initial cancellation of Ortiz’s policy. The Commission did not identify such a basis,

and its decision should therefore be reversed.

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