THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION  
COMMISSION

Appellate Panel Decision

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-002493

---

RECEIVED

APR 07 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Armando Fuentes, Employee, Claimant, Respondent,

v.

Mays Contracting Company, LLC, Employer, and Builders Mutual Insurance Company, Carrier,  
Appellants,

And

Jose M. Ortiz Mendoza DBA Ortiz Construction, Employer, and Riverport Insurance Company,  
Carrier, Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT RIVERPORT INSURANCE COMPANY

---

**Michael A. Farry**

Horton Law Firm, P.A.

SC Bar No. 1964

**Jeremy R. Summerlin**

Horton Law Firm, P.A.

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

## ARGUMENTS

This case turns on whether Riverport properly cancelled Ortiz's workers' compensation policy. This policy was issued under the umbrella of the Assigned Risk Plan for South Carolina Workers' Compensation for 2015 ("ARP"). The propriety of Riverport's cancellation depends on (1) whether Riverport had sufficient grounds to cancel the policy, and (2) whether Ortiz had an opportunity to cure the defects in his prior policy. Each of these elements is contained and explicated in the ARP itself.

### **I. IN CANCELLING ORTIZ CONSTRUCTION'S POLICY, RIVERPORT PROPERLY FOLLOWED THE DIRECTIONS OF THE PLAN ADMINISTRATOR, WHICH IS THE PARTY WITH AUTHORITY TO ADMINISTER THE ASSIGNED RISK PLAN.**

- A. The National Council on Compensation Insurance is the Assigned Risk Plan Administrator and has authority to order carriers to cancel policies with employers.**

NCCI, as Plan Administrator of the ARP, is tasked with “administering the affairs of the Plan as provided by the regulatory authority of the state [the Department of Insurance].” Supp. R. p. 1; ARP, Supp. 2(C). NCCI has several duties in this role, including administering, managing, and enforcing the plan; determining applicant eligibility; establishing written performance standards for assigned carriers; and monitoring and enforcing assigned carrier performance. *Id.* NCCI’s specific duties, obligations, and authority are governed by the ARP itself, which, as Appellants have noted, carries “the force of law” insofar as it has been approved by the Director of the South Carolina Department of Insurance. *Avant v. Willowglen Acad.*, 367 S.C. 315, 318–19, 626 S.E.2d 797, 799 (2006).

Once a carrier issues a policy under the ARP, the carrier cannot cancel that policy on a whim. In fact, “[t]he Assigned Risk Plan specifies five circumstances allowing the carrier to cancel an insurance policy: **(1) the employer is not in good faith entitled to workers compensation coverage, (2) the employer has failed to comply with reasonable health, safety, or audit and loss prevention requirements, (3) the employer has violated one or more of the terms under which the insurance was issued, (4) the employer refuses to allow the assigned carrier reasonable access to its facilities or its files and records for audit or inspection, and (5) the employer refuses to disclose to the assigned carrier the full nature and scope of the assigned carrier’s exposure.**” *Crews vs. W.R. Crews, Inc.*, 390 S.C. 15, 23, 699 S.E.2d 189, 194 (Ct. App. 2010) (emphasis added). *See also* Supp. R. p. 4; ARP, Supp. 12(B).

In determining whether a good faith entitlement to coverage exists (circumstance #1), the ARP states that an “employer is not in good faith entitled to insurance” if “[t]he employer has any **outstanding workers compensation insurance premium obligation . . . on a current workers compensation insurance policy or on any previous or other workers compensation policy that**

is not subject to a bona fide premium dispute . . . .” (Supp. R. p. 2; ARP, Supp. 3(B)). Once this determination is made, “[t]he employer will remain ineligible for coverage through the WCIP until such time the employer has satisfied the outstanding workers compensation insurance premium obligation . . . and is deemed by the Plan Administrator to be in good faith entitled to insurance.”

(*Id.*)

NCCI does not knowingly assign employers to carriers under the ARP if NCCI knows that the employer has unpaid premiums on prior workers’ compensation policies. (Supp. R. p. 3; ARP, Supp. 3(G)). Employers with unpaid prior premiums, if allowed to simply jump to another policy when they default on their current policy, would create chaos in the assigned risk pool. The potential for chaos explains why the ARP gives assigned carriers “the right to cancel a policy currently in force” under the ARP if the employer “does not meet all undisputed workers compensation insurance premium obligations under the current policy or previous assigned risk . . . policy.” (*Id.*) Carriers must simply comply with statutory cancellation requirements. (*Id.*) If the carrier does determine that the employer is non-compliant with any of the five grounds mentioned above, the “carrier **will** initiate cancellation (after providing an opportunity for cure),” and an employer bears the onus to “reestablish eligibility or . . . demonstrate entitlement to coverage . . . .” (Supp. R. p. 4; ARP, Supp. 12(B)(1) (emphasis added)).

**B. Riverport followed the direction of NCCI and complied with the requirements of the ARP in properly cancelling Ortiz’s policy.**

Riverport maintains that it properly cancelled Ortiz Construction’s workers’ compensation policy on the grounds that Ortiz was not, in good faith, entitled to coverage under the ARP. Ortiz had failed to pay an undisputed premium amount to its prior insurance carrier, Companion, and NCCI, as Plan Administrator, had properly directed Riverport to cancel the current policy with Ortiz. Riverport immediately complied with the Plan Administrator’s directive. As noted in the

ARP's definition of what constitutes a lack of good faith eligibility, a failure to pay premiums on current or former policies strips an employer of good faith eligibility in the assigned risk pool policies, and Ortiz's failure falls directly into this definition. (*See* Supp. R. p. 3; ARP, Supp. 3(B)). The parties do not dispute that Ortiz owed premiums to Companion and that Ortiz had not paid that premium at the time Riverport received notice from NCCI to cancel, nor do they dispute that Ortiz did not pay it at the time that Riverport notified him of the pending cancellation. He was undisputedly not entitled to workers' compensation insurance at the time Riverport cancelled the policy under the direction of NCCI.

The entirety of Appellants' first argument is that the Commission "failed to properly identify the rule that would allow Riverport to cancel Ortiz's policy," thereby—the argument goes—rendering its decision invalid. (Appellants' Initial Brief, p. 16). However, the Commission *did* identify the specific basis for why Riverport's termination of the policy was effective, albeit without using the magic words that Appellants argue is necessary. Specifically, the Commission held that the record contained evidence "with the precise language explaining the basis on which cancellation was made," citing two documents: (1) the Notice from NCCI to Riverport Insurance Company dated April 15, 2015 and (2) the Notice of Cancellation of Workers' Compensation Policy dated and sent to Jose M. Ortiz Mendoza DBA Ortiz Construction on April 15, 2015. (R. p. 17, ¶ 11; Full Commission Order, ¶ 11). These documents confirm that Ortiz Construction had not paid its premium on a prior policy (i.e., the Companion Policy). Further, Ortiz Construction had been notified by Companion as far back as February 24, 2015, about his unpaid premiums, and Ortiz Construction took no action to cure this defect and comply with his contractual obligations. When Ortiz Construction received notice on April 15, 2015, of the impending cancellation of his Riverport policy on April 30, 2015, it again took no action to pay the unpaid

premium to Companion. Indeed, the record contains no reliable evidence that Ortiz Construction ever paid its unpaid premium to Companion.

While the ARP does provide only five grounds for cancelling a workers' comp policy, Appellants take this one requirement, mix it together with the fact-specific and distinguishable *Crews v. W.R. Crews* case (390 S.C. 15, 699 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2010)), and thereby attempt to twist the ARP's grounds into requiring far more of NCCI and the Commission than is justified. Appellants argue that not only must one of the five grounds exist in order for Riverport to properly cancel the policy, but that NCCI's letter to Riverport should have included the specific ground or rule that NCCI was basing its directive to cancel on. (App. Brief, p. 15). Appellants further argue that the Commission was required by *Crews* to designate one of the specific grounds for termination of the policy before the Commission's decision becomes valid. (*Id.*). Neither requirement is supported by law or policy, nor do Appellants cite to the locations of such commandments.

The record establishes that Riverport notified Ortiz Construction on April 15, 2015, that its policy was being cancelled effective April 30, 2015, due to the Ortiz Construction being "identified as having an undisputed premium or other monetary obligation on a prior workers compensation policy." (R. p. 206; Respondent's APA #1, p. 1). This language directly tracks the ARP's language that defines good faith entitlement to a workers' comp policy, and thereby places this cancellation squarely within the first basis for cancelling the policy. Upon this determination by NCCI, Riverport was required by the ARP to "initiate cancellation" of the policy, "even if the noncompliance was for a previous policy issued by a different carrier." (Supp. R. p. 4; ARP, Supp. 12(B)(1)). While the NCCI letter was the impetus for Riverport to initiate cancellation of the policy (since Riverport did not and would not have knowledge of Ortiz Construction's failure to pay the

premium of an entirely different carrier), Riverport had a duty and requirement under the ARP to initiate the cancellation of the policy as soon as it received notice from NCCI, the Plan Administrator. And ultimately the Commission found that NCCI's letter to Riverport and Riverport's subsequent letter to Ortiz Construction contained this "precise language explaining the basis on which cancellation was made." (R. p. 17, ¶ 11; Full Commission Decision, ¶ 11).

This basis, given the Full Commission's immediate citation to the NCCI and Riverport letters, is clearly the "non-payment of premium" grounds contained in the letters themselves, especially considering the fact that Riverport argued this very point in its Brief at the Full Commission appeal hearing. There, Riverport listed the five grounds from the ARP and argued that Ortiz Construction's non-payment of the premium was the specific justification for terminating coverage. (R. p. 320-21; Riverport Brief, Full Commission Hearing, page 3-4). Based on Riverport's arguments, along with the NCCI and Riverport letters before it as evidentiary support, the Full Commission found that Riverport properly cancelled the policy. Just because the Full Commission did not label Paragraph 11 of its decision with the exact language that Appellants demand does not render Riverport's cancellation, as mandated by NCCI and as demanded by the ARP itself, an improper act. Nor does it somehow invalidate the Full Commission's holdings. NCCI and Riverport's basis for cancelling the policy was clear, and the Full Commission was clear what basis it used to reach its conclusion.

As alluded to briefly above, the *Crews v. W.R. Crews* case is ultimately irrelevant to this case. *Crews* dealt with markedly different facts and it ultimately provides no additional rules or requirements to any party involved in this lawsuit that are not already present in the ARP. In *Crews*, the issue was whether the carrier had properly cancelled its insured's current policy due to the insured's failure to comply with reasonable audit requirements on a previous policy with that same

carrier, which is the second of five circumstances where a carrier can cancel a policy (recall that the instant case deals with cancellation on the first ground, lack of good faith eligibility). 390 S.C. 15, 21-22, 699 S.E.2d 189, 192-93. The *Crews* court found that the carrier's cancellation of the current policy was improper, because the ARP did not provide any specific language permitting the carrier to cancel the current plan due to the insured's non-compliance on a previous policy issued by the same carrier. *Id.* at 23, 699 S.E.2d at 193.

Appellants ostensibly use *Crews* because of some superficial similarities with the present case, although a close examination of the facts in *Crews* reveals significant factual dissimilarities. *Crews* concerned two policies issued by the same carrier, the latter of which was cancelled due to issues with the former policy (canceled improperly, as the court eventually held). Appellants believe that *Crews* somehow creates additional duties on Riverport or on the Commission, stating repeatedly that the Commission "needed to identify a rule that would allow Riverport to cancel Ortiz's policy . . ." (App. Brief, p. 14-15). Appellants draw this "requirement" for a "rule with precise language" from *Crews*, but this language was in an entirely different context from the case before the Court.

In *Crews*, Liberty Mutual (the carrier) was arguing that it was required by the NCCI manual's rules to cancel the insured's current policy because the insured had violated the audit requirements from the insured's *prior* policy with Liberty Mutual. But the court could not find any "rules with this precise language in the record." *Crews*, at 23, 699 S.E.2d at 193. In other words, the *Crews* court could find no rules that dealt with one carrier, one insured, one new policy, one old policy, and one issue with audit compliance on the old policy.

The current case is demonstrably different. Riverport was not cancelling Ortiz Construction's current policy because Ortiz Construction had failed to comply with audit

requirements on a prior contract with Riverport, as in the *Crews* case. Rather, Riverport was cancelling its *only* policy with Ortiz Construction because (1) Ortiz Construction had failed to pay its premiums on a prior policy with a different carrier, as determined by NCCI; (2) the ARP's rules of eligibility state that Ortiz Construction's failure to pay his premium on a prior policy means he is conclusively "not in good faith entitled to workers compensation insurance"; (3) "not in good faith entitled to workers comp insurance" is a grounds for termination of the policy; and (4) NCCI, for that reason, had directed Riverport to cancel the policy, which Riverport did. Unlike in *Crews*, we have a rule with precise language in the record as to the basis for Riverport's cancellation of Ortiz's policy, and that rule is found in the ARP Supplement 3(B)(3). So even if *Crews* was applicable and factually similar to our situation, which Riverport disputes, Riverport still meets this alleged requirement. Appellants spend a great deal of time arguing that *Crews* places additional burdens on Riverport, but the simple fact is that the ARP provides the only real requirements that Riverport must comply with, and Riverport did in fact comply with these requirements.

## **II. RIVERPORT COMPLIED WITH ITS OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ORTIZ CONSTRUCTION WITH AN OPPORTUNITY TO CURE.**

Riverport does not dispute that the ARP calls for an opportunity to cure defects in policies. What Riverport does dispute is Appellants' allegation that Riverport failed to provide Ortiz Construction with an opportunity for cure. In support of their allegation, Appellants attempt to conflate an earlier event between Riverport and Ortiz Construction with the very different facts of the present case. Specifically, Appellants describe Riverport's efforts in February 2015 to get Ortiz Construction to comply with certain underwriting requirements on Ortiz Construction's policy with Riverport. (Appellants' Brief, p. 18). On February 19, 2015, Riverport sent a notice to Ortiz Construction regarding the pending cancellation of Ortiz Construction's policy for failure to

complete and return an underwriting evaluation letter. (R. p. 99; Appellants' APA, p. 91). Riverport stated that Ortiz Construction could cure the defect by providing the requisite form and documents prior to a certain date. (*Id.*) Ortiz Construction complied. (*Id.*) Appellants argue that the procedure and steps Riverport went through in this instance should have been exactly replicated when Riverport informed Ortiz Construction of the pending cancellation on April 15, 2015. Of course, these two instances are entirely different.

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